The Call

- 1. To take such action as the meeting may determine to elect a Moderator of the Representative Town Meeting.
- 2. To take such action as the meeting may determine to elect a Deputy Moderator of the Representative Town Meeting.

Minutes

Moderator Hadley Rose:

This meeting of Westport's Representative Town Meeting is now called to order. We welcome those who join us tonight in the Town Hall auditorium as well as those watching us streaming live on www.westportct.gov, watching on cable channel 79 or ATT channel 99. My name is Hadley Rose and I am the RTM Moderator. On my right is our RTM secretary, Jackie Fuchs. Tonight's invocation will be by Staples High School Principal, John Dodig.

Invocation, John Dodig:

Thank you for asking me to provide the invocation this year. For those who are recently elected and those of you who have given years of your lives to public service, I congratulate and commend you. I come before you now as a Westport property owner and proud taxpayer. I have avoided living in each of the towns in which I have worked for 42 of the 43 years I have been in education. I recently decided that I wanted to be a part of the Westport community. In short, I moved to Westport because it is an extraordinary community and I want to be a part of it. Those of you who know me know that I speak my mind and wear my emotions on my sleeve. You know that I have never been more proud of a high school than I am at present. It took me only six months seven years ago to realize that this was an extraordinary school; that I had something to offer to bring it to even greater heights; and, here in Westport, I had the opportunity to have my vision for the future accepted and endorsed by the entire school staff. Now, seven years later, I am watching a team of adults make historic change right before my eyes. I fully expect that when I finally decide to retire, I will feel a sense of accomplishment that will be a fitting end to my career. About three years ago, I addressed the Y's Men of Westport and described the beginning of our journey at SHS to change the paradigm of education. Not much has changed in the "how" of education since the first public schools were opened in America. Students came to school each day charged with the responsibility of sitting still, being attentive and listening to what the teacher was sharing with them. The teacher was the repository of all information. We all hoped that students would remember what we told them long enough to pass a test and finally graduate after 12 years of school. My iPhone and gadgets like it have made that model unsuitable, unrealistic, and a complete waste of time. If we do not change the paradigm, American students will be ill-prepared for the competition that is now part of a world economy. Facts have become a commodity to be shared among databases throughout the world. How to solve problems using this information, where and how to find it, making sure the data are accurate and relevant to the task at hand, and, finally using the data with the help of others in a group to collaboratively develop a plan of action or a solution to a problem is the model that is needed in the new world order. How we do this in America with our millions of school-age kids is way beyond my ability to discern. How we do this in Westport and at Staples, however, is very clear to me and very doable. In fact, it is happening right now. Solving real-world, often ill-defined problems and presenting the findings/solutions persuasively to an audience are skills our students are learning right now. The Westport 2025 initiative begun this year by the Superintendent of Schools will insure that this paradigm shift will be part of every child's experience from the first day of Kindergarten right up through twelfth grade. Just imagine what those graduates will be able to do by the year 2025.

There are communities like Westport sprinkled throughout America with similar kinds of students, teachers, parents, and schools. In the grand scheme, however, it is a relatively very small number. What we have in Westport is rare. I know, and most people I speak to know, that our Westport schools sell homes. Our schools have become a huge draw to this community. The students who graduate have skills that far exceed the best from most high schools in America. I am speaking about this today because the new paradigm I described is expensive. One teacher talking at 30 or 40 kids is a less expensive model than one teacher providing students with real-world problems and then coaching them through the process of discovering an answer or solution. Having kids interact with the teacher, with each other, to present, and to demonstrate that they can actually do something useful with the big ideas they have discovered takes time. It can't be done remotely over the Internet. It has to be done in a classroom with sufficient time for teacher/student interaction. It is difficult, but it can be done. What I have shared with you today comes from the heart. It comes from 42 plus years of working with teenagers in public education in six different communities from suburban to urban. I know in my heart that it is the right thing to do for a group of hard-working, intelligent, compassionate, caring, community-minded young people with parents and a broader community that value education. I know you have very difficult decisions to make at budget deliberation time in May of each year. I also know that I am not an impartial observer when it comes to our community and our schools. But I happen to be the very proud Principal of your high school. And I know from everything I have learned over my 42 plus years that if any group of young people can grow up to be successful change-agents in a world that was not even dreamed of only a few short years ago, it is Westport's students. They are worth our investment. I have no school-age children but I will happily pay my taxes with increases each year to support this endeavor. My grandchildren will benefit from some of the great things our students will do one day. I am proud to be a part of this. Thank you for listening.

Mr. Rose:

Before we call the roll call this evening, we have a couple of members who were not able to make the inauguration the other evening so, if the following people would please come up: Mr. Wieser, Mr. Klinge, Mr. Rubin, Ms. Cherry and Mr. Gilbert, please.

Town Clerk Patty Strauss administered the oath of office.

There were 34 members present. Mr. Timmins notified the Moderator that he would be absent. Ms. Cady was also absent. Mr. Rossi notified the Moderator that he would be late. Ms. Calise also arrived late.

Birthday greetings tonight: Mr. Urist, Mr. Arthurs, Ms. Talmadge, Mr. Rossi and, also, Colleen Tarpey who is one of our very, very valuable workers in the Town Clerk's Office.

Announcements

Mr. Rose:

The next RTM meeting, we have a meeting on Dec. 14 at 8 o'clock here in the auditorium. Also, just as a reminder, there is an orientation meeting for new members this Thursday at 7:30 up in room 309.

Some of you have not turned in your committee assignment request sheets and some of you have still not signed off on getting information electronically from the Town Clerk's office. I would really appreciate it it if you have everything and by Friday. The committees have to be formed by next week.

Mr. Wieser:

There is going to be a meeting of the Finance Committee on Tuesday, 7:30, room 309.

RTM Announcements

Jack Klinge, district 7:

On Dec. 18, Sunday, one o'clock, Senior Center, the Friends of the Senior Center are, once again, sponsoring a musical concert. It's our holiday concert. It's Maureen Hamill and her Broadway group. They sing wonderful tunes. We will end up with a holiday sing-along. As usual, we provide lots of goodies to eat. We start serving food at one o'clock to two. You are all invited providing you have your birth certificate which shows that you were born in 1951 or earlier. Come one, come all and enjoy a wonderful holiday music concert sponsored by the Friends of the Senior Center thanks to a grant from the Levitt foundation.

Mr. Meyer, Mr. Bomes, Mr. Rubin and Mr. Underhill:

Allen Bomes, district 7:

What happens in 25 days? First Night! This is another exciting show brought to you by popular demand, we are back to two fireworks at 8:30 and at midnight.

George Underhill, district 4:

First Night, it happens to fall on a very good time for us, as Saturday evening. We are going to have clowns. What we are going to do tonight is offer all of you RTM members First Night buttons for the 2012 New Year's Eve celebration. It's only \$10 tonight. It goes up to \$15 on the 15th of this month. We are asking you if you will be the first on your block and purchase them. If you can't use them for some reason or other, if you're going to be out of town or whatever the case might be, there is no problem buying a button and we will give it to the Human Services Department to give to people who can't make it. It can be a charitable contribution if you wish. We have about 25 plus venues throughout the downtown area. It's going to be on New Year's Eve. We are running it from four o'clock to midnight. As it was mentioned to you already, there will be two fireworks. One will be at 8:30 in the evening for the younger children so that they can come home and one at New Year's Eve at midnight which is the first time we have done this in a number of years, as you probably know. We have been very fortunate with these buttons. We have Doug and Melissa, you know who these people are in town, who have made a donation so we can have these buttons. These buttons also contain our website so if you can't buy a button tonight, you can go online on the website and purchase one at \$10 until the 15th of this month. What do you get for it? You get two firework displays. You get a bonfire. You get a horse and buggy ride throughout the town. And like I say, if you can't use the buttons for yourself, please give it back to us and we'll have it donated for human services for kids who can't make it. A wonderful, wonderful evening. If we make this one a success, we'll make it bigger and better for future years. I look for your participation. If you want a button tonight, look for me after the meeting.

Mr. Bomes:

Also, you can also buy a firework. This is a little bit crazy but you can make a donation for one firework, for a bombette or for a barrage.

Bill Meyer, district 3:

We are looking for volunteers. If anyone wants to volunteer for two hours, see a great show, go around, we need about 100 volunteers. This is our 18th year. We get bigger and better every year. Our biggest volunteer is Steve Rubin. That's why I got him up here. He volunteers for 10 hours every New Year's Eve.

Mr. Rose:

Just so the new members understand, you do not have to wear a party hat or have a blower to make an announcement.

Arthur Ashman, district 7:

I'd like to pay homage to our new members with the thought of the day before making my announcements about the jazz concert: "Politicians and diapers are just alike. They need to be changed often and for the same reason." Having said that, now for my musical interlude. There are two very, very good jazz concerts coming up. One is this Thursday at Fairfield University. It's the Jazz Ensemble.

Brian Torff, the head of the Music Department is leading it. It is one of the few times that you will see Ashman play his trombone. All kidding aside, I am the only member of the jazz ensemble that doesn't have pimples but, I enjoy it. Thursday, Dec. 15 is WAC. The Westport Arts Center has its terrific jazz jam. Any one of you who plays an instrument, bring it, you can come in and enjoy yourself. Both are at 7:30. For seniors, the jazz jam has a special \$10 entry fee. So, I'd like to encourage you, if you like jazz, bring the kids. The last time a lot of kids came and we had a spectacular 16 year old from Staples play a guitar. He was terrific. Bring your kids whether they play or not. They will enjoy it. The jazz jam, 7:30 at WAC.

Cathy Talmadge, district 6:

I just wanted to make sure, you will be receiving an invitation via e-mail tomorrow but I wanted to make sure you all knew about the open house at Wakeman Town Farm this Sunday, Dec. 11 between 11 and one. We will be serving cider and have cookies that children can decorate to hang on the tree that is being donated by the Edwards family from the Maple Hill Tree Farm. We will also be able to see the farm. You may notice we will be on the agenda for the 14th to establish a special fund which is fully funded through contributions for the next 18 months. If anyone has any questions and wants to call me prior to the meeting to get any additional information, I would be happy to talk to anyone.

John McCarthy, district 9:

First of all, Dodig didn't mention some of the great things that are happening for Staples this weekend. This is one of the weekends in which is a lot of different talents of our high school students are on display. This is the weekend of the Candlelight Concert, Friday night and Saturday. If you don't have tickets, some might be available. I strongly encourage you to go see it. It was a very special event when I was in it. It's even more special now that I'm not in it. The big event is the Staples football team. Staples Football is playing for the State Championship, Saturday night, 5:30, East Hartford, U. Conn. stadium, Rentschler Field. That's going to be a great event. This is an amazing team, 11-0, undefeated, going against 12-0, Xavier. These two teams have been ranked numbers one and two this season and this should be a pretty exciting game. Whether you want to see the athletics or see the performing arts or both, as I'm planning on doing, it is a great weekend to go and watch Staples kids do some of the things that makes this school quite special.

Mr. Rose:

Before we turn to the call, traditionally, at the first meeting of the session, the senior member of the RTM conducts the portion pertaining to the election of a Moderator. This year, as we did two years ago, we actually have two members with the same number of years of service. We have Mr. Rubin and Mr. Meyer who have both served for 16 years. This is their 9th term. Two years ago Mr. Rubin took the stage. This year the honor goes to Mr. Meyer. If Mr. Meyer will

please take the stage. By the way, for new members, you are never going to see this man in a tie again.

Mr. Meyer:

Boy, what an honor. The first time I've worn a suit! I've got a suit for every day of the week, the same one! Patty Strauss prepared something. I think it's fantastic. How many RTM's in the state? Seven: Greenwich, 62,000 population, 230 members. If the RTM met here, they would go all the way out the back door. Branford, the town has 49,000, 30 RTM members and they are partisan. Waterford, which is right before you get to New London, 18,000, 32 people on the RTM, partisan. Darien, the Blue Wave, 20,000 people, 96, non-partisan; Fairfield, the adjacent town, 57,000 people and 50 on the RTM, partisan; Groton next to New London, 40,000, 40 on the RTM; the best his last, Westport, started in 1948. I want to thank Patty Strauss for that. Her son will be playing next Saturday night. He is a big star of the football team. By the way, all these RTM's have two things in common. They are on the water and they are on Route one. Route one goes from Key West, Florida to Fort Benton Maine. Here we go. I'm going to read this because it's official. As Hadley says, 'Don't ham it up. Be official.' Right Hadley, okay. This is a time honored tradition and I am very pleased and proud to be part of this. The reason we're here tonight is our organizational meeting for election of the Moderator and Deputy Moderator. The way our procedures work is that I will run the election for Moderator and then the Moderator who is elected will come up and run the election for Deputy Moderator.

The secretary read item #1 of the call – Election of the Moderator of the RTM.

Mr. Meyer:

I will remind everyone that there is no resolution so there is no resolution to be seconded. I also remind you that under section A162a–11 of the RTM Rules of Procedure, voting for the election of Moderator or Deputy Moderator shall be by signed ballot; however, if only one candidate is nominated or if more than one candidate is nominated but only one candidate accepts the nomination, then the vote for Moderator and Deputy Moderator may be showing of hands at the discretion of the Moderator and so I choose to do it that way. At this time, the floor is open for nominations. Would you please state your name, district and how long you have been on the RTM.

Jeff Wieser, district 4 (on the RTM four years):

... And I have never seen you in a suit and tie. It might be a little out of protocol, but I'd first like to welcome our new members and for all of the old members, former members, who aren't with us this year for the first time and probably watching on TV out of habit, I'd like to say hello and how much we miss them. I'm sure you guys will take over very quickly and very well for them but we are missing 11 great people.

Good Evening Mr. Acting Moderator, Fellow members of the RTM, members of the audience and those watching on TV. I am honored to stand before you to nominate Hadley Rose to continue in his role as Moderator of the upcoming annual session of this Representative Town Meeting. Twenty five of us know that Hadley has been a good, strong, fair leader, helping us wind our way through some thought provoking, sensitive, and sometimes stormy issues. Our 11 new colleagues might not be as familiar with Hadley's leadership, and I speak especially to you: to assure you that he has done a superb job in leading us for the past four years; to convince you that Hadley is worthy of reelection to this role; and to ask that you vote to keep him in the position. I will admit that in my four years on the RTM I have only known Hadley as Moderator. I will also admit that, prior to my service on the RTM, I did not watch a lot of the RTM meetings in person or on TV. So, I did not see previous Moderators in action. I'm sure our new members are more fully prepared than was I! However, as I think about what a Moderator should be and how one should act, I know we are very fortunate to have the experience of Hadley guiding us. He is fair. He creates an open atmosphere in our meetings so that all can be heard and all can feel comfortable in being heard. Both the public and our membership have the benefit of an open forum, and Hadley guards that jealously. Most impressive to me is his continuation of the tradition of Moderator moderation. He does not speak in meetings. He does not offer his opinions because, he has said, this might lead the discussion. How he controls himself to be able to do that, I don't know, but it is a testament to his leadership that he provides an open forum for all. He is technically competent. He knows Roberts Rules of Order, and he uses them fairly to keep this body on track. And he is a strong leader. That knowledge of Roberts Rules of Order, as well as his understanding of the process of our organization, is of great help in keeping our sometimes long meetings as short as possible. We all appreciate all that he does to achieve that particular goal! Most importantly, after four years on Hadley's RTM, I get the sense that he is proud of all of this organization and, therefore, I am proud of him. So I offer in nomination Hadley Rose as the Moderator of this Representative Town Meeting. It is a great benefit to all of us to have an experienced, principled leader to guide us over the next year. And it is a great benefit to all of us to have seen him in action and know that he happens to be good at the job we are electing him to do. I hope you agree with me that we should take advantage of this good fortune and return Hadley to the position at which he has been so successful. Good luck Hadley.

Melissa Kane, district 3:

Good evening. My name is Melissa Kane, and I am a newly elected representative from District 3. I think I have been on the RTM for about two weeks. I am honored and humbled and, quite frankly, thrilled to have the opportunity to second the nomination of Hadley Rose for Moderator for the upcoming session of the RTM. Until quite recently, I had only known Hadley as one of his constituents. During that time, he has been consistently accessible, professional, thoughtful and kind and he's also very funny. I have been to my fair

share of RTM meetings, and I'll admit to having watched more than a few on channel 79, and I've always been really pleased to find Hadley running meetings that are based on civility, impartiality and efficiency. He is an excellent leader. I would also add that the efficiency measures that Hadley has successfully implemented during his tenure as Moderator are, in fact, part of the reason I decided to run for RTM; I knew that, should I be elected, I would be spending my time wisely. So, doing my part towards time efficiency - I thank you for the chance to speak, I look forward to working with all of you, and I urge you to join me in voting for Hadley. Let's return him to the role he fills so well. Thank you.

Mr. Meyer:

Are there any other seconds? [No.] Is there anybody else to be nominated? Since there appear to no other nominations, we will proceed with public comment.

Members of the Westport electorate – no comments

Members of the RTM – no comments

Mr. Meyer:

Traditionally, there has been little or no public or RTM comment during our Moderator's election; however it is allowed our town charter guarantees it Westport electors have the right to speak on any RTM item. Is there anyone from the town electorate that would like to speak? Let's show hands to elect Hadley. One hundred percent. That is required to elect a candidate. The vote is unanimous. Hadley!

Mr. Rose:

Thank you Bill. Nobody could riff like Bill. We are already off to a better start because, as you recall, in my last nomination, Velma, after extolling my virtues of organizational skills, I got up here and I had forgotten my acceptance speech. So, I made sure I had it this time. First, I'd like to thank you all for your continued vote of confidence. I'd especially like to thank Jeff and Melissa for their kind words. They really are appreciated. We've just come off a very difficult but, I think, very successful session. As we all know, the federal and state governments, not to mention most municipalities, are facing tremendous financial pressures. On any given day, you can pick up the paper and read about pension issues, public sector layoffs, cuts to education, etc. But Westport has so far managed to weather the worst of this storm. Our schools are still top rated. Our services are still, for the most part, first class. Our credit rating is still sound. Yet, our tax increases through these past few years have been very low. How did we By the efforts of the elected officials, by the work of numerous volunteers and by the hard work of our Town employees. It starts at the top. From the modest budget increases put forward by the First Selectman and the continuing efforts of our Town Department Heads and by all our employees working harder to do more with less. Our Board of Ed. has engaged in ongoing efforts to keep expenses under control and the past few years have proposed some of the most modest increases I have seen, as they continue to try to do the most they can with the dollars we can afford. The Board of Finance does its part to oversee the budgets and try to find new ways to instill fiscal discipline and suggest new procedures or policies as they review various appropriation requests. But, at the end of the day, so much of what makes Westport what it is comes down to us, the RTM. When the public has reservations about newly enacted legislation by the P&Z, they may come to us to review it. When the Board of Finance sends us an appropriation request, our committees review it and we have the final say. When they send us the budget proposal for the next year, we look at it, analyze it, and, in some cases, restore monies that were cut when we feel it will have a negative impact on the smooth functioning of the Town. The bottom line is, where the buck actually stops is here. Much like the past few years, we are facing another tough economic year. Once again we are going to have to try to balance the competing needs of our schools, of our seniors, of those who use the beaches and Longshore, and those who rely on our first responders, our Town employees and Town services in general. We need to do all this, in an environment where many members of the community, our neighbors, are facing harsh economic realities. I have every confidence that this RTM, with its mixture of experienced members and the energy and fresh eyes being brought to us with the influx of 11 new members, will be up to the challenge. Once again, thank you for your support, and I look forward to working with all of you to continue to make Westport the best town it can possibly be.

The secretary read item #2 of the call – To elect the Deputy Moderator of the RTM.

Mr. Rose:

Without repeating everything that Mr. Meyer said, the same rules apply to the Deputy Moderator.

Mr. Klinge:

Thank you Mr. Moderator and congratulations. This is one of the nice things about being on the RTM when you when you get to nominate and support to somebody who's really a true, loyal and wonderful member of this group and well deserving of your support. I am delighted, tonight, to nominate Eileen Flug to another term as Deputy Moderator. Keep in mind that Deputy Moderator is really the same as Moderator with a "Deputy" in front of it. All the skills that make a Moderator successful apply to a Deputy Moderator. Eileen has all of those skills and talents and commitment. Let me start with what I call pragmatic common sense. This is a body that often runs off and forget things, like the basics, which I happen to believe are common sense and pragmatism. Eileen enjoys all of those talents and is happy to communicate them to us and, you know what, we listen. When Eileen speaks, we listen. I confess, over my 14 years in this body, to not always paying attention to people who are speaking. When Eileen speaks, I

listen. It's for a reason. She has something to say. It's worth hearing. It's worth reflecting on. She commands our respect as any Moderator should. She has the ability to make evenhanded, on the spot, decisions which one must make in the role of Moderator... trained lawyer, valedictorian of her class at Pepperdine... Let me tell you about Pepperdine. If you can even begin to study sitting on that campus looking out over the ocean in Malibu and get any kind of good grades, it's remarkable. To get the best grades in your class, is outstanding. I have spent some time at that campus staring out to the ocean. Eileen has a wonderful sense of humor which, guite frankly, as Moderator you need when it comes to dealing with type A, egocentric, idiosyncratic speakers and that's just the RTM! Forget the public. You have to know how to manage your audience and Eileen can do that. Her experience tells us she can do that. Finally, Eileen is a genuinely nice person. She has given lots of time up to this town. You'll hear about more of her accomplishments from Lois Schine. She sacrificed her family and their time to work on public projects. She is truly a wonderful Westporter. You have all heard, probably, of Thomas More, a man for all seasons. Well, it is my privilege tonight to place in nomination for Deputy Moderator, Eileen Flug a woman for all reasons.

Lois Schine, district 8:

It's my privilege to second the nomination of Eileen Flug for Deputy Moderator of the RTM. She is the model of a dedicated Westport citizen and RTM member. She has served on numerous town committees. I'm not going to itemize them. During her previous six years as a member of the RTM she served as Chair of the Ordinance Committee and was Deputy Moderator. She was well prepared for both of these roles as Jack just told you, graduating from Pepperdine University, then spending 13 years as a corporate attorney. I'm sure you will all want to join me in casting your vote for Eileen Flug for Deputy Moderator.

By show of hands, Eileen Flug is unanimously elected Deputy Moderator of the RTM.

Mr. Rose: Congratulations.

Eileen Flug, district 9:

Thank you Jack and Lois for those really kind words. That was wonderful. As I love short meetings. I love the efficiency measures that Hadley has instituted so I'm going to keep this brief. I just want to say I am honored to be elected your Deputy Moderator. I look forward to speaking and working with each of you. If there are any questions or concerns that you have, anything that you are too shy to speak with Hadley about, or anything that you would like to discuss with me, please contact me. I look forward to getting to know the new members. Once again, thank you very much.

Mr. Rose:

We have no other business tonight. I would just like to remind the new members, please try and attend the orientation meeting this Thursday. Don't get used to meetings being quite this short. This is fairly atypical. When we adjourn, if you would each caucus by your district. I need one member from each district to serve on the Rules Committee. Typically, it is usually the senior member or the member with the most votes. Each district can decide that on their own. So, before you leave, please do that and have somebody come back to me and give me who will be on the Rules Committee.

Point of information, Dr. Cunitz: Dunville's...

Mr. Rose:

Anybody who is interested, we are going to Dunville's after the meeting.

The meeting adjourned at 8:45 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, Patricia H. Strauss Town Clerk

Jacquelyn Fuchs

by Jacquelyn Fuchs Secretary

ATTENDANCE: December 6, 2011

DIST.	NAME	PRESENT	ABSENT	NOTIFIED	LATE/
1	Don Bergmann	X		MODERATOR	LEFT EARLY
-	Diane Cady	Α	Х		
	Matthew Mandell	X			
	Cornelia Olsen	X			
	Comena Giech	, A			
2	Catherine Calise	Х			8:20 P.M.
	Jay Keenan	X			
	Louis Mall	X			
	Sean Timmins		Х	Х	
3	Jimmy Izzo	Χ			
	Melissa Kane	Χ			
	Bill Meyer	Χ			
	Hadley Rose	Х			
4	Jonathan Cunitz, DBA	X			
	David Floyd	Х			
	George Underhill	Χ			
	Jeffrey Wieser	Χ			
5	Dewey Loselle	Χ			
	Richard Lowenstein	X			
	Paul Rossi	X		X	8:15 p.m.
	John Suggs	X			
	=				
6	Hope Feller	X			
	Paul Lebowitz	X			
	Catherine Talmadge	X			
	Christopher Urist	Х			
7	Anthur Ashmasan D.D.C	V			
	Arthur Ashman, D.D.S. Allen Bomes	X			
		X			
	Jack Klinge	X			
	Stephen Rubin	^			
8	Lee Arthurs	X			
0	Wendy Batteau	X	+		
	Heather Cherry	X			
	Lois Schine	X			
	Loid Golillio	^			
9	Eileen Flug	Х			
	Velma Heller, Ed. D.	X			
	John McCarthy	X			
	Gilbert Nathan	X			
Total		34	2		
	 11/16/11	J-T			

Revised 11/16/11